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Figure 1. Location map



found during river dredging adjacent to the Phase 1 excavation area (SMR 2922, NGR
SP480730 242000). Further similar pieces of limestone, each centrally pierced, were
also found upstream. According to a deed dated to the 20™ April 1465, there is an
alleged site of a 15 century water mill along the Back Brook tributary. Traces of a
building, also said to have been a mill, were recorded on Back Brook at the bottom of
Grange Field in 1860. Two further buildings were recorded on the 1813 OS map in
this approximate location. In 1979 a medieval grit stone quern fragment was found in
the field due south of the Back Brook, which is thought to be related to the possible
mill. The relationship is unclear between these mill buildings and the farm estate
centred on the Manor Farm buildings and adjacent earthworks, which are thought to
have Saxon origins. The whole limestone escarpment to the south of the development
area has been designated as a Scheduled Ancient Monument (SAM 1360901 and 02).

According to the Wolverton Draft Plan of ¢.1804, the development area originally
consisted of at least eight fields, most of which were formed by the criss-crossing
effect of the small tributaries of the River Ouse.

In the 1950’s, a possible Bronze Age timber trackway, comprising loose stones on
brushwood was exposed during gravel workings in Cosgrove Lodge Park
approximately lkm to the north-west of Phase 1 of the development (Green and
Maynard 1972). The trackway was concealed beneath 2m of alluvium, and was 30m
long and 5m wide.

Geophysical survey and associated auger investigation by the University of Wales
Lampeter Archaeological Services (Bates 2007) revealed that Phase 1 was likely to be
the deepest of the proposed phase areas and suggests that the alluvial deposits in this
area are at their thickest, with a deeper underlying geology that was subjected to
perpetual and prolonged periods of flooding. In recent times the land in Phase 1 was
utilised for both arable farming, with evidence of possible plough marks to the south
away from the River Great Ouse and for pasture in the north next to the river, the two
areas were separated by a modern hedge line.

Etymology

The scope of the development area allows a study of the wider landscape to be made
in relation to both the physical representations of archaeology and occupational or
land development as well as the place names or names of fields and major landscape
features within the landscape. Etymological evidence is often overlooked in the
investigation of place and the position of particular areas within a wider landscape,
even though it can be an indicator of earlier perceptions of the landscape that may not
have been recorded in any other medium; ownership as well as land use and value are
also commonly expressed within the traditional place or feature names.

The most obviously prominent feature of the landscape of the overall development
area of Manor Farm quarry is the River Great Ouse, a name generally accepted to
have old or pre-Celtic origins potentially referring to ‘water’ (Walde & Pokorny
1959) However, Ouse also shares a similar sound to the Old English for ‘muddy’ or
‘silty’; ‘wase’ (modern English Ooze (Ayto & Crofton 2005)), the original meaning
may potentially have been hijacked and re-modelled following observation of the



frequency of the flooding associated with the river by the later occupants. The Anglo-
Saxon influence on the Etymology of the wider landscape of the development area is
evident from the surrounding villages of Wolverton (Old English ‘estate owned or
associated with Wulthere’) and New Bradwell (built adjacent to original Bradwell,
from Old English ‘broad spring or stream’).

The field names associated with the development area as well as land to the south,
beyond Back Brook are also indicative of the perceived value and use of the land.
‘Park Meadow’ to the south of the Back Brook at the slope the limestone escarpment,
is suggestive of open, frequently flooded pasture of limited and seasonal use as well
as the extensive landscaping associated with the medieval and post-medieval owners
of the limestone escarpment. The fields Upper Hey from Old English ‘brushwood’ or
‘bushy’ and Kent’s Hook from Old English ‘land on the inner side of a bend in the
river’ (possibly relating to a person or family name of Kent), both have names that
relate to their geographical position and status. The fields of ‘Linces’ and ‘Colts
Holm’ positioned within Phase 1 are also instructive; Colts Holm contains the element
of the Old Norse ‘Holmr’ which was absorbed into Old English as ‘Holm’ meaning
either ‘low-lying ground adjacent to a stream or river’ (Gelling 1974) or alternately
‘dryer land within a marshy area’ (Ayto & Crofton 2005), combined with an Old
English male name of ‘Cohlhede’ or ‘Coccede’ indicating some form of ownership.
Either interpretation of ‘Holm’ is indicative of frequently flooded land and again
suggests a use more related to meadow or pasture than to cultivation. Conversely the
adjacent field of ‘Linces’ potentially refers to a well ploughed and cultivated area,
with ‘Linchets’ or raised cultivation terraces (Richmond 2006). Although the
emphasis focused on the terraces suggests the majority of the landscape was devoid of
cultivated land.

Overall the etymology of the places and features within the wider landscape and
development area demonstrate an unsurprisingly strong Anglo-Saxon linguistic
presence. The proximity of water, rivers, streams and commonly flooded seasonal
pasture-land is prominent; a clustering of names not uncommonly associated with
river valleys and flood planes and the settlements near to them.

Methodology

The strip, map and sample exercise was implemented at the start of Phase 1 as part of
the continual exercise to be implemented throughout the development area; to monitor
the removal of overburden and identify and record any archaeological activity present
within the development area.

The site was excavated by a tracked 360° machine fitted with a toothless ditching
bucket with topsoil and underlying deposits being removed under archaeological
supervision. Any archaeological activity identified was excavated by hand; 50% of
each discrete feature was sampled; whilst ditches were sampled in Im sections.
Recording followed a CAU modified MoLAS system (Spence 1990) in accordance
with the outlined specifications (Richmond 2006). Numbers (fill), or [cut] were
assigned to individual contexts and feature numbers, F. to stratigraphic events with
sections drawn at 1:10 and base plans at 1:50. The photographic archive comprises
black and white slides as well as digital images. A representative range of features





